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PREFACE

When the idea for Outgunned was conceived in March of 1999, attorneys Wendell Gauthier and Daniel G. Abel were still forming the Castano Gun Litigation Group in New Orleans. My proposal to them was to produce a book on gun control based on the landmark notion of making the streets safe again by suing America’s gun companies—perhaps the most secretive corporations in America. I requested complete access to their project and aid in covering the other elements of the story: the gun lobby, the firearms industry, and the municipalities in whose name the attorneys were suing.

To get in on the ground floor, I flew to New Orleans in May 1999 and spent more than two weeks with Wendell Gauthier, his legal compatriots, and members of the Castano Group who frequently jetted in and out of the bayou city. Since Gauthier’s crusade against handguns was highly personal, he was the key to the larger story. In-depth interviews—none of them shorter than three hours—were provided by Gauthier family members, fellow lawyers, and several close friends. In that way, it was possible to relive his initial assault on tobacco and the beginnings of the gun suits.

Because the American media was just catching on to the story, the early weeks in New Orleans allowed me to interview reporters from across the country and add their take on the issue to the research I was gathering. Since Daniel G. Abel was in charge of the thirty-seven-lawyer task force, his initial interviews filled eleven 90-minute cassettes. His legal expertise and knowledge were so valuable that I asked him to become a coauthor. By the time I wrote up the proposal for my publisher, my tape library on the project filled a pair of shoeboxes.

With the book under contract, I moved to New Orleans. As the principal attorneys flew in and out of the city, they were interviewed exhaustively—providing a picture of the forces forming the gun crusade in cities like Philadelphia; Washington, D.C.; Atlanta; Cincinnati; Cleveland; and a group of municipalities on the West Coast.

As the Castano Team communicated with figures from the gun lobby in their effort to reach an initial settlement, many of those sources came to New Orleans and were interviewed on site, including Richard Feldman and Robert Ricker of the American Shooting Sports Council, both of whom had been powerful lobbyists for the National Rifle Association, and Pat Acqualino, a former NRA publicist. None of those interviews—which dissected the National Rifle Association from within—lasted less than three hours, and all included multiple sessions. This was to prove invaluable since the NRA itself, wary of the connection with the Castano Group, refused to allow any of their officers to be interviewed for this story. But Feldman and Ricker—with numerous ties inside the NRA—interpreted events for me and utilized friends and colleagues who still worked for the gun lobby. In a stroke of great luck, Neal Knox—one of the old warhorses of the rifle organization—agreed to help me understand how the “new NRA”—the NRA almost smothered by an enormous ad agency—does and doesn’t work.

In order to cover the political fallout from the lawsuits across America and in Washington, D.C., I cultivated sources who were involved in virtually every gun action in America, including the Brady Center’s legal director, Dennis Henigan, who served as participating lawyer on more than twenty-two of the lawsuits. The Brady Center to Prevent Gun Violence was known until 2001 as the Center to Prevent Handgun Violence. It has two activist arms: The Brady Campaign to Prevent Gun Violence, formerly known as Handgun Control Incorporated (the legislative and lobbying entity), and The Legal Action Project (the litigation branch). Interviews—usually via telephone—occurred between the spring and fall of 2001. Eventually, I possessed numerous hours of discussions reporting from the front lines of the battle for gun control.

One of the most valuable sources was Castano powerhouse John Coale, who from Washington, D.C., served as the team liaison with Congress and the Clinton White House. In the course of six interviews, he depicted the manic actions of an administration determined to achieve gun control before the inauguration of a new president.

Because of Castano’s membership in the Internet legal services, I was able to accumulate more than ten thousand documents, commentaries, court rulings, and opinion pieces not available on the regular Web. The collection was a lawyer’s-eye view of the emerging story of the gun litigation.

The age of C-SPAN, CNN, MSNBC, and Fox News allowed me to depict congressional sessions, major speeches, crucial gun votes on the floor of the House and Senate, and, perhaps most importantly, the series of bloody shootings that began with Columbine and punctuated the legal crusade for two years. Much of this book emerged from these virtual-reality videos, which offered up complete data contained in a personal library running to hundreds of cassettes.

But the heart of the story remained in New Orleans—where I was based from the first research interview through the final editing of the book. This is not the story of the many municipal gun suits that have been filed—and their differences. Rather, it is the story of the legal crusade launched by the Castano Litigation Group, and of the politics surrounding it.



INTRODUCTION
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A SHOOTING IN FAUBOURG MARIGNY

New Orleans, Louisiana, October 11, 1998. Gospel Singer Raymond Myles opened the door to a rundown card club—little more than a hole in the wall—and shouted a farewell to a friend: “I don’t know when I will see you again. I’ve got concerts booked months in advance.”

Then he walked toward his car through the cloudy, moonless night. Myles had just spent the last few hours in the projects where he grew up. He’d devoured a plate of barbecue and picked up a new purple choir robe from his seamstress before heading to his favorite club.

The cozy club’s atmosphere made him feel mellow. Sipping on a Coke, he watched a card game, and then defied his public image for seriousness by singing along with a recording of Elvis Presley’s “Crying in the Chapel.”

At 11:15 P.M., he leaned over to a friend and said, “I’ve gotta go man. I’m up tomorrow at 5 A.M. I’ve got a plane to catch.” The unlit parking lot was strewn with shards of glass and brick fragments, causing Myles to stumble as he headed toward his Lincoln Navigator. He sank down into his luxurious car and began the familiar drive toward Bourbon Street.

Eleven minutes later, Myles’ $45,000 automobile sped from the Faubourg Marigny neighborhood, headed down Chartres Street, and turned onto Elysian Fields Avenue, where it stopped at a street corner. The passenger door swung open and the singer’s body was flung into a gutter awash with foul runoff. It landed faceup, the head resting in a clump of bayou morning glories. Blood commingled with the runoff. The singer had been shot three times—twice in the leg and once in the chest. The third bullet had pierced his heart. During the last fifteen minutes of Myles’ life, his killer had stripped the diamond rings from his hands, pocketed his Lorcin pistol, and grabbed a small television set. Job completed, the killer would abandon the Navigator five miles away.

At 11:51 P.M. the headlights on Cecil Termez’ truck illuminated the death scene. Termez, leaning out his window, knew immediately that Myles was dead. He sped toward an all-night gas station, where he dialed 911. Bradley Rhodes was the first officer on the scene. He vainly searched for a pulse and some identification. Moments later, Homicide Detective John Ronquillo ran from his car and knelt beside the body: “Don’t you know who that is?” he asked Rhodes. “It’s Raymond Myles. The gospel singer.”

When the preliminary report of the death passed across the desk of the watch commander, he scanned it briefly before reaching for a telephone. He had a celebrity killing on his hands—one that would outrage most of New Orleans’ religious community.

Not only was Myles one of the premier evangelistic singers in the Deep South, he was a New Orleans icon well known to every powerful figure in the city. He was also a Grammy winner who frequently played on the national stage, so respected that Daily Variety, the Bible of Hollywood, would feature a front-page obituary.

As the coroner sped to the death scene, the watch commander beeped Police Chief Richard Pennington and New Orleans Mayor Marc Morial—standard procedure following a homicide. The chief called a minute later. When he learned that the DOA was Raymond Myles, he sank back on his bed. The singer was a favorite of the police brass. He had sung at their benefits, at funerals offallen officers, and at many famed jazz festivals.

“I’m coming in,” Pennington told the watch commander, “and try and dodge the news calls. We need a couple of hours.”

When Pennington read the details from the early reports, reality set in. He had to call the mayor.

Morial was awakened by the beeping but went back to sleep, feeling impotent and angry. Another murder. Many nights the shrill beeper would awaken him four or five times, reminding him that New Orleans had become “a city of death.” As mayor, he carried these deaths on his political shoulders. Yet it seemed that nobody else shared his outrage. Certainly, nobody wanted to do anything about it.

While serving two terms as a state senator, he had authored six antigun bills, none of which even made it out of committee. His cronies in the Democratic Party offered no help. The rural sections of Louisiana stymied any attempt to strengthen the state’s gun laws. And the muscular lobby of the National Rifle Association blocked all of his proposals.

Back at police headquarters, Chief Pennington searched for the best way to disclose to Morial that his friend was dead. Myles and Morial had known one another since childhood. The well-loved entertainer had performed at both of the mayor’s inaugurations and all of his public and private functions. “He always brought the house down and everyone had a great time whenever he performed,” Morial said.

Pennington finally just picked up the phone and called his boss. Morial seemed to respond calmly—until he slammed down the phone in rage.

Myles had been shot with his own gun, he had learned. It was a death that, he felt, could have been prevented. For years, gun manufacturers, including Colt and Smith & Wesson, had been experimenting with “personalized guns”—guns that could only be fired by their owners. Gunsmiths called them “smart guns”: they were smart enough to save lives.

But the National Rifle Association had taken a stand against mandatory alterations of handguns. The NRA’s executive vice president, Wayne LaPierre, spoke for his members when he derided the gun companies for considering these “risky pistols,” adding, “The industry is decades away from making a safe personal weapon.”

News of Myles’ death spread quickly through New Orleans. Before dawn, just hours after the murder, scores of churchwomen in mourning outfits descended on the crossroads, intent on sanctifying the death scene—a New Orleans tradition. Sprays of autumn flowers and a teddy bear were near the wild morning glories that had cradled Myles’ head. At daybreak, a group of the mourners joined hands and, moving slowly, sang Baptist hymns. Soon, New Orleans commuters were awakening to hymns, too. Myles’ voice was being played on Top 40 stations as well as the more arcane FM channels.

Morial, son of New Orleans’ first African-American mayor, Ernest (Dutch) Morial, vetoed a quick burial. Instead, he arranged for Myles’ body to lie in state under the dome of the New Orleans Municipal Auditorium. More than 10,000 people filed slowly by the gardenia-draped casket the first day.

Next Saturday morning, representatives from every church in the city crowded into St. Stephen’s Baptist Church, Myles’ own, where a five-hundred-voice choir performed solemn anthems. Morial sat with the family, yards from another longtime friend, famed attorney Wendell Gauthier, who would soon become entangled in the ugly political fallout of Myles’ murder. Morial obsessed about the murder long after witnessing his friend’s casket being lowered into the earth. He thought about the handgun that Myles had purchased because “the streets had become too dangerous.”

New Orleans police said that Myles kept the handgun in the well between the Navigator’s front seats so he could grab it if he felt threatened. But the gun was also an eye-catcher, its gleaming steel finish reflecting every streetlight. Morial learned that Myles’ weapon ended Myles’ life quickly: “Dead in thirty seconds,” said coroner Frank Minyards. And it had offered no protection at all against his executioner. The killer had been so close when he pumped bullets into the singer that he left powder burns on Myles’ chest.

Myles’ death was not unique. A high percentage of handgun victims are shot with their own guns. Policemen, truckers, and liquor store owners are particularly vulnerable.

Myles remained in Morial’s thoughts as he continued his antigun lobbying. He was now second vice president of the U.S. Conference of Mayors, and waist-deep in violence statistics and crime reports. Gunmakers were continuing to resist producing “smart guns,” claiming “they cost too much.” Meanwhile, death tolls from accidental handgun deaths and handgun homicides mounted. Gang members roaming New Orleans’ streets had more guns and firepower than the city’s police force. The New Orleans mayor was aware that at least twenty cities were planning to sue firearms manufacturers—a wave of litigation inspired by ideas that had been formulated in Philadelphia beginning in late 1996 and had since become a topic of national discussion. But Morial remained undecided. The murder pushed him forward, and he quickly summoned Wendell Gauthier to his office.

Lawyer Gauthier, unlike Morial, had already battled a Goliath industry and won. Gauthier had headed the famous tobacco litigation that inspired the attorneys general of 37 states to sue the tobacco companies to recover public moneys spent to treat smoking-caused illnesses. He told Morial that a similar victory over gunmakers was conceivable.

Gauthier was a credible—albeit colorful—resource. “He is a veritable Zelig of mass-disaster litigation,” the Weekly Standard wrote of the barrister. “He has twice ranked as one of the National Law Journal’s ‘100 Most Powerful Lawyers.’”

On October 21, 1998, only ten days after Raymond Myles’ murder, Gauthier, toting an “Italian brown” umbrella that matched his $2,000 “Milan Mogul” suit, walked into Mortal’s office, carrying a sheaf of papers under his arm.

Gauthier slapped the paper pile onto the mayor’s desk: “Here’s an outline for your lawsuit, Marc. Do you want to file this quickly? Aren’t you worried that people might believe you are using Raymond’s death for political gain?”

“Wendell, as saddened as I am because of Raymond’s death, I see it as a catalyst for moving against the handgun industry. It is considered invulnerable, but I’m not so sure. With the legislature in the National Rifle Association’s pocket, isn’t this the only way we can go after them?”

Gauthier answered cautiously: “It will attract their attention, but can we hurt them financially? That is the only way they’ll agree to these changes. They won’t volunteer.”

The New Orleans mayor was well aware that his enemies would accuse him of “going through the back door” to achieve his political goals. Using litigation rather than legislation would likely bring the furies of the United States Congress and the Louisiana State Legislature upon him. While he was a state senator, his proposals had been defeated again and again by legislators who had caved in to the demands of NRA lobbyists. By going to court, he surmised he might bypass those fabled lobbyists—or so he hoped.

Gauthier picked up his Via Veneto umbrella and headed back out into the storm.

Back in his office in the suburb of Metairie, the lawyer found his law partner, Daniel G. Abel, waiting for him. Knowing Gauthier’s addiction to rich settlements, Abel warned him: “This suit might bring you a lot of attention, Wendell, but it won’t bring you a lot of money.”

“Maybe not,” Gauthier had answered him. “But I promised the mayor I would do it. So get me the numbers and a battle plan, and we’ll meet in a couple of days.”

Though Gauthier was becoming more convinced of the lawsuit’s “winnability,” he was slowly accepting a bitter reality: the gun industry was no “deep pocket” defendant. Total earnings for the industry were about $1.9 billion to $3 billion annually. In contrast, the tobacco industry earned $1 billion a day.

Undeterred, Gauthier consulted a forensic accountant. Maybe the gun industry’s insurance companies could be forced to proffer large sums if Gauthier’s litigation proved successful. But again, he was disappointed. They would pay damages to gun manufacturers but, in their policies, waived coverage of litigation awards.

Abel soberly confronted Wendell about the dismal financial report. “If the numbers are correct, this will be an idealistic endeavor,” he told Gauthier. “It will cost you as much as half a million dollars to prosecute the New Orleans suit alone, and there’s a good chance you will never recoup the money. If you call in the armada of attorneys you used in the tobacco lawsuits, you could lose millions.”

Gauthier chose to persevere.

That was how New Orleans’ legal assault on handguns began. Within six months, thirty-three other cities would follow New Orleans’ example.

Charlton Heston, the aging poster boy for the National Rifle Association, would later characterize Gauthier, the spark for this national revolution, “a traitor to the United States.”

This revolution would sweep up President William Clinton, President George W. Bush, the mayors of thirty-three cities, New York Mayor Rudy Giuliani, Tom Selleck, Rosie O’Donnell, Barbra Streisand, and Sharon Stone.

The sixteen gun companies named in the suit were almost lost in the shuffle. But they were like sleeping bears about to awaken.


CHAPTER ONE
 [image: Image]
MISSION IMPOSSIBLE

Assembling the Team

New Orleans, Louisiana, October 30,1998. Just over a week after the plan for the lawsuit had been slapped down on Mayor Morial’s desk, Wendell Gauthier couldn’t sleep. A windstorm had whipped up about midnight and rattled the trees and swept around the corners of his glass and birch-wood mansion. He normally fell into bed exhausted and didn’t awaken until the sun was sparkling on the beveled-glass windows.

But in the hazy predawn hours, his phone jangled repeatedly, and a rasp of voices spewed hate-filled tirades into his answering machine. The callers were men of the gun, members of the Aryan Brotherhood, and, in a few cases, fellow attorneys convinced that Wendell Gauthier intended to take away their guns. Despite Gauthier’s staff’s best efforts, news had leaked out about the upcoming antigun litigation.

John Coale of Washington, D.C., one of Gauthier’s lieutenants in the gun battle, decided to alert the press “for that extra little jolt.” So he called friends at the Bloomberg journalistic group, a communications conglomerate with ties to the Internet, the Wall Street Journal, and the Associated Press. What had been a small leak became a tidal wave as news of the lawsuit jumped from the pages of the Boston Globe (which was the first paper to print the story) to the AP and, finally, onto the United Press International radio wire. The late-night talk shows wanted to know if Gauthier would do to guns what he had done to tobacco.

Throughout his two decades as a litigator, Gauthier had weathered press ridicule and opposing counsel derision. He’d been called “master of disaster,” “king of torts,” and “Boom-Boom” (the latter honoring his success with explosives litigation). But all in all, he managed to maintain a “white knight” image: a good-hearted champion (albeit a rich one) eager to deliver solace and cash to his clients. The gun suit would make him the target of the conservative press, the Republican Party, the National Rifle Association, and the Christian Conservative Alliance.

At New Orleans City Hall, Mayor Morial was having late-night problems of his own. When the news leak had reached Philadelphia, it provoked an angry phone call from the city’s mayor, Edward Rendell, who already was mired waist-deep in a campaign of his own against the gun manufacturers. “This is my deal!” he screamed at Morial. “You know I started this in the Conference of Mayors, so back off and let me proceed. I’m damned close to reaching a settlement with the gun companies.”

Rendell demanded that Morial postpone his action so that he could schedule one last meeting with the firearms attorneys. The Philadelphia mayor explained that he was close to hammering out a settlement.

But Morial quietly explained that he couldn’t. Court documents were already filed. Press releases had been distributed. Enraged, Rendell slammed down the phone, but not before spewing a string of expletives.

Rendell had reason to be angry, but not for the one he gave. In early 1998, he had decided not to proceed with the complaint that had been drafted for the city by Temple University law professor David Kairys. He was instead dealing directly with NRA leaders. Rendell was more than aware of the 165,000 voting NRA members in Pennsylvania, but he wasn’t in the organization’s pocket. He was torn.

Frustrated when settlement talks lapsed with gun manufacturers’ negotiators, Rendell threatened to proceed with the lawsuit.

“He went further than that,” recalls Paul Jannuzzo, vice president and general counsel of Glock, Inc. “Rendell called us together and told us we either did what he said or one hundred lawsuits would be filed against us from coast to coast.”

The Philadelphia mayor briefly considered holding a competing press conference when New Orleans delivered its news, but decided against it. Public sentiment was volatile; voters could easily turn against his cause—and him. There was just too much on the table to lose.

Back in New Orleans, Gauthier prepared for his media event. By morning, bulletins concerning the lawsuit had been picked up by CNN, NBC, ABC, and Fox News, who were ready to broadcast live reports from New Orleans City Hall’s Old Spanish Steps. Despite his best efforts, the conference did not go smoothly.

At 12:30 P.M., while he and Abel waited for Morial to appear, a group calling itself “the South Mississippi Aryan Brotherhood” called in a bomb threat to the mayor’s office, warning that an incendiary device had been planted somewhere in City Hall. It would be triggered at 1:30 P.M., the news conference’s start time. Police immediately evacuated the building, barricading all nearby streets, and escorting bomb-sniffing dogs through City Hall’s long corridors.

Abel leaped over a barricade and bolted up the stairs in search of Mayor Morial. After some searching, he found him behind the building, calmly rereading the fifty-page lawsuit.

When the police dogs indicated that City Hall was bomb-free, Morial and a keyed-up Gauthier resumed their positions on the podium and announced their suit against gun companies, gun retailers, and pawnshops. Reporters from ten states and stringers for Australia, Canada, and Great Britain recorded their words.

“Waiting periods for gun purchasers; a limit of one gun purchase per thirty-day period; and a plan for the design, manufacture, and sale of smart or personal guns.”

Their demands seemed modest to many.

When the conference broke up, Gauthier immediately headed to his office, leaving Morial to be mobbed by journalists. However, one reporter from CNN cornered the attorney: “Why does the City of New Orleans need a big-time lawyer like you to litigate for them?”

“Because the mayor asked me to,” he replied. “Now if you are going out to get a big entertainer in here, you’d get the best—Madonna or Barbra Streisand. With me, Marc knows he is getting the best.”

The reporter pressed on: “Mr. Gauthier, you are not an elected official; you have no obligation to voters; what gives you the right to sue?”

Gauthier bristled: “We are taking the gun dealers to court because the political process failed us. The mayor tried to crack down on the dealers when he was a state senator, and the gun lobby crushed his efforts each time. He couldn’t even get a bill out of committee. If lawyers hadn’t launched Brown v. Board of Education, you would never have had school integration because it was so unpopular with lawmakers.

“How can our legislature make aspirin bottles childproof and ignore the possibility that guns can be made safe as well? I say, get your butt in court, Mr. Gun Maker, and let’s see what you have. And when we reveal the facts, Mr. Gun Maker, nobody’s going to be interested in whether I am making a fee or not. They are going to be interested in whether you did wrong or if you sold your guns to criminals.”

Abel stayed out late that night with visiting press corps members, celebrating the suit’s announcement. But when he returned home, he found nasty communications on his phone service. Unlike Gauthier, he listened raptly to the messages, informally trying to gauge public opinion. Then he began fielding calls—mostly a torrent of name-calling, curses, and threats until just after midnight, when a caller put a gun near his phone receiver and fired two shots.

Using the strategy that earned him success against the nation’s tobacco makers, Gauthier gathered together thirty-seven law firms from around the country, and encouraged them to pool their resources and fund a “war room” to oversee the litigation. The thirty-seven firms each contributed $50,000 in cash, man-hours, and research. The money funded a permanent staff of paralegals. Gauthier also prepped the thirty-seven firms about taking the gun companies to court.

The lawsuit broke new ground by attacking the firearms industry for “failing to install safety devices that would prevent children—and other unauthorized users—from firing the gun.” As written by Abel and Dennis Henigan of the Brady Center, the suit also faulted gunmakers for developing prototypes of so-called smart guns and then refusing to manufacture them. (In fact, only Colt’s Manufacturing Company had developed a model that wouldn’t fire without a signal from the owner’s radio transmitter. That gun has not been proven reliable).

New Orleans sought to recoup millions of dollars spent on police, medical, and other city services in connection with suicides, murders, and other unintentional shootings. Gauthier and his associates’ cut would be 20 percent of any settlement and 30 percent of any judgment should the case go to trial.

Wendell Gauthier suddenly found himself gaining more notoriety for masterminding this antigun litigation than at any time prior in his career. He also was proving very intriguing to journalists, some of whom depicted him as a hero, others as a greedy opportunist intent on rooting out cash awards from the gun companies.

The Weekly Standard’s Matt Labash summed up the objections. “If it burns, leaks, seeps or (praise god) explodes, chances are Gauthier is heading up the plaintiff’s committee, siphoning 25 to 35 per cent contingency fees from multi-million dollar jackpots.” In an interview with the author, Labash continued: “I do not see a cause of action here. Guns are meant to fire bullets. Guns are meant to kill or maim. Guns are violent or they would not do their job.”

Gauthier agreed with that assessment—but only to a point. He believed that handguns had become too deadly—with their armor-piercing bullets and pinpoint laser sights. “In the hands of children and criminals, they’re an invitation to disaster.”

Because the attorney had cultivated an antipathy toward firearms that was out of step with his profession, he was immune to the gun mystique that seems to permeate American life.

“I cannot imagine anyone other than Wendell to head up this effort,” Henigan said. “In fact, he was the one who convinced me that these lawsuits were viable. And he convinced me to help write the pleading.”

Henigan, director of the legal arm of the Brady Center to Prevent Gun Violence, agreed to serve as co-counsel in the New Orleans crusade. He saw Gauthier as a “doer” rather than “just a thinker.”

Gauthier has been a man of action ever since he graduated from the University of Southwestern Louisiana in Lafayette and headed for Loyola University’s School of Law. Strapped for cash, he founded a driving school to pay for law school and the early, lean days of starting a practice.

When the big cases started roaring in—such as the 1980 MGM Grand Hotel fire in Las Vegas and the 1982 Pan Am crash in Kenner, Louisiana—Gauthier became known for his colorful style. His first big case came when twelve houses blew up in Metairie, Louisiana, because of faulty gaskets put on gas lines in the county. He garnered a $1 million settlement for his twelve clients but claims now that he did not see a cent in fees because his expenses had been so high.

Though educated at the University of Southwestern Louisiana and able to speak fluent French and quote Voltaire, Gauthier could play country bumpkin to win the sympathies of unsophisticated juries and would employ humor to defuse tense situations—and hopefully sway opinions. Once, during a 1988 case involving harmful chemicals, he discovered at noon Friday that crucial medical documents would not arrive until Monday. This meant he would be forced to start his closing arguments before the documents reached him. Just before lunch, Gauthier asked for a continuance. “No, this trial is late enough as it is,” answered the judge. “And, Mr. Gauthier, you are skating on thin ice considering the number of delays you have facilitated in this case.”

Gauthier tore out of the courthouse at noon and began canvassing toy stores for a state-of-the-art robot that could walk, beep, and follow his commands from remote controls. Gauthier found the perfect one and stashed the remote controls in his coat pocket. Back in court, Wendell put the robot beneath the plaintiff’s table and pointed it toward the bench. It beeped and clinked its way to the judge’s bench, where it butted its head onto a small set of stairs and tipped over. In its hands was a note for the judge that said, “Won’t you please, please give my master a continuance? His very future as a lawyer depends upon this.” Raucous laughter filled the courtroom until the judge picked up the toy and aimed it back at Gauthier: “Tell your master he has the continuance.”

Sometimes his antics trailed into the badlands of legal ethics. In 1994, Gauthier even faked a heart attack—again to force a continuance. The case involved a multimillion-dollar claim, and Gauthier didn’t want to give his closing argument on a Friday. Gauthier explained: “The jury would have forgotten everything I said when they returned on Monday. I had a hell of a closing argument and didn’t want to throw it away.

“I put on a heavy tweed blazer and ran to the stairwell of a nearby parking garage adjacent to the court house. It was summer. It was very hot—I would say ninety-six degrees. So I ran up and down those stairs as fast as I could for fifteen minutes. My pants stuck to my legs and my white shirt was soaked and my tie was stuck to my shirt. Then I staggered down the aisle of the courtroom, grabbing my chest, and slumped into my seat.”

The opposing counsel leaped to his feet and pled with the judge to grant Gauthier’s request for a continuance. “I don’t think Mr. Gauthier is well enough to continue.”

Gauthier feigned frailty, “I can go on, I think. I do not wish to cause the court any trouble.”

The judge leaned over his bench in concern: “Mr. Gauthier, I don’t think it is in your best interest for us to continue.”

So Gauthier went home happy. He was even happier ten days later when he obtained a $1.5 million settlement.

While these career adventures made Gauthier one of the most notorious lawyers in New Orleans, they also made him wealthy, earning him upward of $100 million. But they didn’t bring him the serious reputation he craved. In 1984, though, he decided to change that. He bought a shopping center and converted one wing of it into a two-story, state-of-the-art legal complex that boasted a fully appointed courtroom, special jury rooms, and a law library rivaling that of the nearby Loyola University School of Law so that he could practice moot court sessions to perfect his strategies.

“I decided to rehearse each lawsuit in advance,” he said. “So I built a courtroom with professional video recording equipment. The mock jurors are able to judge me instantly. And I’m frequently unimpressive. But at least I have the time to change my approach.”

He also pioneered the use of “shadow juries” in Louisiana. Gauthier, his sister Totsy, and his brother-in-law Phil King hire jurors that match, as closely as possible, the real jury he would face in each trial. These jurors, who are paid about $50 per day, attend court each day, and are polled twice daily. On the final day, they go into real deliberations in Gauthier’s jury room, which he monitors with audio and video equipment, and also can observe through a mirrored window.

About twenty-five years ago, as he continued to hone his legal skills, he began specializing in national disasters. He excelled, gaining a reputation as one of the best class-action attorneys in the world.

The Continental Grain Company elevator explosion earned him his first national headlines. Shortly after noon on September 17, 1977, a huge grain elevator exploded in Chalmette, Louisiana killing 7 and injuring 23 other workers. Gauthier and Abel drove over, and they were the first lawyers on the scene, hours ahead of any other legal teams.

Their primary task was to determine the cause of the sudden silo explosion, the first in Louisiana history. Gauthier sent Abel into the remaining silos to search for evidence. Abel convinced a friendly technician to let him into one of the huge storage buildings. “When I got halfway down, I could see the trouble immediately. The ventilation ducts were not working and particles of grain formed a dangerous fog. The smallest spark would set off a bonfire.”

Gauthier was able to win a multimillion-dollar settlement for his clients by arguing that the silo and elevator, together, formed “one big defective product,” he later said. Doing so had allowed him to sue each of the various companies that had provided parts to the compound structure.

Then, in 1980, an explosion ripped through the MGM Grand Hotel in Las Vegas, killing 87 people. Gauthier was called into service again by friends who had suffered smoke inhalation during the crisis.

Gauthier and his team chartered a jet to the gambling capital. They arrived there at 2:15 A.M. and installed themselves in a motel room—which would become their base camp. Fifteen minutes later, Gauthier, with team attorney Pat McCabe, sped to the hotel scene. At the MGM Grand, a Las Vegas police officer showed his badge and said, “This is a crime scene. Nobody gets in.” Except Gauthier, who was able to convince the cop that he had the court’s permission. Gauthier and McCabe toured the wrecked hotel and surmised that it had not been properly equipped in fire prevention technology. On a second tour, he turned to McCabe and said, “Pat, everything here was flammable right down to the dice.”

“The conflagration was fierce,” Gauthier recalled. “The people in the casinos didn’t have a chance, the fire was moving so fast. And all of this was due to the polyester in the drapes, the tables, the carpets and, yes, the dice.”

In all, Gauthier sued more than 50 corporate defendants (including MGM, which had only a $2 million fire insurance policy) and reached a $180 million settlement for his clients.

He triumphed a third time in 1991 by garnering a $220 million settlement after the 1986 fire at the San Juan DuPont Plaza Hotel that killed 98 people and injured 157. The casework for the suit ran millions of pages and included statements and testimony from more than 900 witnesses. Gauthier’s staff, with Abel and Monica Sterling in charge, remained in Puerto Rico for the entire five-year duration of the case.

The tobacco suits shot him into the pantheon of legendary litigators. The legal action started when Gauthier’s best friend, Peter Castano, a lifelong smoker, died of lung cancer at the age of forty-seven. Gauthier vowed to put the tobacco industry on trial. “They were unregulated,” said Gauthier. “Peter Castaño didn’t know that cigarettes would kill him. He didn’t know tobacco products were manufactured to purposely addict humans.” So Gauthier assembled a team of lawyers and called them the Castano Litigation Group.

Gauthier’s legion eventually included sixty-five law firms around the country. At his request, each put up $60,000 to fight the tobacco suits. The case drove some of the lawyers into near bankruptcy. To meet extra expenses and to continue working on contingency (without retainers), some were forced to take out second mortgages on their homes, boats, and cars.

Their diligence paid off. Big Tobacco has paid 37 states billions of dollars as a result of the suits initiated by Gauthier. For spearheading the tobacco lawsuits, Gauthier received the American Lung Association’s award of the year.

It had taken Gauthier fifteen years to rise from being a general practitioner who drafted wills and protested parking tickets to becoming a legend.

Still, many of his fellow New Orleans attorneys dismissed his accomplishments. It was all luck. Would it run out with this current litigation?

While Abel and Henigan were assembling the antigun squadrons, Wendell recruited his two top adjutants: John Coale, the “clown prince of the legal world,” in Washington, D.C., and the “sultan of settlement,” Stanley Chesley of Cincinnati. Both were legal street fighters who had worked themselves up to the top in a legal world that shunned them. Coale was more famous, but Chesley had earned more money—three-quarters of a billion dollars during the last fifteen years.

Gauthier, Coale, Chesley, and Abel had bonded at the site of the 1984 Union Carbide chemical leak in Bhopal, India. Coale—along with his Indian tailor—jetted in to sign up clients. And sign he did: 50,000 of them. Chesley came to settle and to steal most of Coale’s clients (to populate his Union Carbide class-action suit before a New York court). Coale ended up working for Chesley, making repeated trips to India to sign up more victims. While an elephant chased Gauthier through the streets of India, Abel crept over terrain with thickets full of cobras to spy on the Union Carbide plant. All came home without a dime. When Chesley tried to portray his efforts as “humanitarian aid” at a press conference, the journalists burst into laughter.

Apart from good stories, Coale and Chesley brought to the gun litigation an invaluable asset—the ear of President William Clinton.

Coale makes more of his “First Family ties” than Chesley. From the steps of Coale’s office building in Washington, the skyline of the city’s monuments is majestic. Inside, there is a photographic gallery showing Coale with President Clinton and even Socks the cat. “You could say that I spend a lot of time in the White House,” he said.

Coale was being modest. As one of the few outsiders, he was a regular at the late-night card games Clinton savored. A typical night would find Clinton, Coale, Clinton aide Bruce Lindsey, and Coale’s best friend and Clinton’s brother-in law, Hugh Rodham, together in the basement. These “basement” connections would later transform the battle against the gunmakers.

In his rock-and-rolling office chair, Coale reminds you of a youthful Henry VIII—sartorial style excepted. During office interviews, he purposely wheels and turns his swivel chair, keeping journalists preoccupied and off balance.

Coale likes to present himself as a glorified ambulance chaser and champion of the little people, ignoring his stellar career at the plaintiffs’ bar. He blithely dismisses the hundreds of millions in awards over the last ten years. “I started as the DWI (driving while intoxicated) king of Washington, D.C.,” he volunteers jauntily. But he will only deprecate himself so far before going on the offensive. For instance, when Ed Bradley, on 60 Minutes, called him “a vulture that would circle and pick at the bones when people suffer misfortune,” Coale leaned out so that he was in Bradley’s face: “No, Ed, I circle and pick the bones of the corporate bastards who create these misfortunes.”

During an interview in his Washington, D.C., office, Coale made it clear that he doesn’t entirely mind being referred to as an attorney with a murky past. He grabbed a handful of bad notices from a desk drawer and offered them up: “Reputable newspapers printed these stories, but they’re fit only for a tabloid—it’s yellow journalism pure and simple. Once the media gets a little dirt on someone, they use it, and use it and use it—even if it happened decades ago.”

The blustery Coale is cagey enough to endure these broadsides in comparative silence. “Contacting the press just focuses more attention on me,” he said.

Coale really did chase ambulances. He also courted victims with a brutish style. This was evident when he tried to sign up a man with burns over 80 percent of his body. “Who else is going to help these people,” he shrugged.

But he bristled at only one charge: that he is the “sleaziest lawyer in America.” “This just isn’t true,” he said in an interview with the authors.

Gauthier’s other deputy, Stan Chesley, was the first to be called the “master of disaster.” When Gauthier hustled him to join the gun suits, Chesley was relaxing in the best suite at Washington, D.C.’s Willard Hotel. “When Wendell first called, I was skeptical,” Chesley remembers. “I had just spent five years fighting the tobacco industry. Suing the gun industry looked to be just as taxing as tobacco.”

Wendell explained that lawsuits against the firearms industry fit the Castaño philosophy of the plaintiffs’ bar as a de facto fourth branch of government, achieving by litigation what had failed legislatively. Tobacco was the prime example. But civil rights issues, airline safety, and misuse of firearms qualify as well.

Chesley found this irresistible.

Known was as “the meanest attorney in America,” or “the best-known and least-liked member of the Plaintiffs’ Bar,” Gauthier explains: “When I first met Chesley, I thought he was arrogant and abrasive, and there were not many qualities that I liked. But time has worn off the rough edges. We share a distant friendship.”

But Chesley thinks it is a waste of time to take a personal injury case to court. He pushes and shoves and manipulates a case until the other side is begging to settle. Then he becomes a charmer who pushes the awards higher and higher with velvet gloves.

A splendid dresser who conducts business in a gilded and paneled office, Chesley created the model for modern personal injury actions. The case that changed his career came in 1977 when a fire killed 165 people at the Beverly Hills Supper Club in Southgate, Kentucky. In that case Chesley charged 1,100 defendants in what is called “enterprise liability” in which he sued manufacturers of generic items like carpet and wires—anything that contributed to the blaze. Chesley went on spending his and his firm’s money during six trials. It cost a million dollars. He collected $49 million.

To complete his team, Gauthier wanted a lawyer-scholar who was familiar with the Byzantine workings of the gun world and cognizant of its protector, the mighty National Rifle Association. He found such a man right under his nose—the chief counsel of Handgun Control Incorporated, Sarah Brady’s antigun lobby—Dennis Henigan, who had abandoned a lucrative practice in Washington, D.C., to take the Brady Center’s more moderate salary. He already had friends who were involved in the gun cause. “They were having a lot more fun than I was,” he explained in an interview. “And they were doing something important.” So he gave up his seven-figure-a-year practice and signed on as an antigun warrior.

Years later, as general counsel for Handgun Control, Inc., Henigan was growing impatient. The winds of gun control were sweeping around the country, led by Philadelphia’s Mayor Ed Rendell and his Task Force on Handgun Violence. Progress was being made. Henigan was hopeful when he heard Rendell was ready to file suit against the gun moguls.

But Henigan was rebuffed by Philadelphia Mayor Ed Rendell. When word leaked that Chicago Mayor Richard Daley and his political machine were ready to take on handgun-makers, Henigan told Daley that he and HCI were ready to help. The mayor didn’t even return the phone call.

Still, Henigan saw that both mayors were carving out a new legal trail. Cities, rather than individual victims, were ready to take on the firearms industry. Henigan wanted in the game.

Henigan had realized that litigation was a legitimate means to reforming the gun industry and saving lives, regardless of the prospects for new gun control legislation. In fact, the National Rifle Association had a political hammerlock on the House of Representatives. During the heated election campaign of 1994, the NRA paid $5 million to elect the Newt Gingrich slate and boldly referred to the conservative freshman representatives as “our own legislators.” (Between 1994 and 1996 every major gun-control proposal failed to get out of congressional committee for consideration by the whole of Congress.)

Henigan drafted a prototype suit of his own, then sat back and waited. He had left a “big money” career with the Washington, D.C., firm of Foley & Lardner to enter what he termed “public service.” His salary plummeted and his political headaches began as he faced the gun lobby on a daily basis. John Coale rejoiced at Gauthier’s selection of Henigan. “He’s a walking encyclopedia. He knows everything about the issue. If you’re doing a case, and you have a person who knows everything about the issue; you would want him on board no matter what the case is.” While Gauthier rounded up more Castano members, Henigan jetted to New Orleans to conduct what he calls “tutorials on the subject of gun control.”

In the days following the New Orleans press conference, the Castano Group looked over their shoulders toward Fairfax, Virginia, and the headquarters of the National Rifle Association—the organization that Forbes magazine would soon call “the most powerful organization in the United States.”


CHAPTER TWO
 [image: Image]
TRAILS OF BLOOD

Guns Passed from Hand to Hand to Killer

On the bitter-cold afternoon of November 11, 1998, Mayor Richard Daley of Chicago, in a severely tailored blue suit, stormed into a room full of journalists, brandishing the front page of the Chicago Tribune in his right fist. Its bold banner headline read: “Our Shame: Number One City in Murder.”

They were standing in the “evidence storage facility” inside a North Side police building. Daley, the most politically powerful mayor in America, had invited them. He was clearly about to make a statement. They came to learn the bulky details of the lawsuit he held in his left hand.

Chicago’s Lawrence Rosenthal, the city’s deputy corporation counsel, and Temple University Professor David Kairys followed the mayor into the room. Kairys’ appearance caused a buzz in the press brigade. They knew that he had written America’s first gun suit—only to see it abandoned by Philadelphia Mayor Edward Rendell. Daley and Rosenthal, both of whom were fascinated with the approach, resurrected the draft and used it as the basis for the Chicago action. It was based upon Kairys’ legal theory—that the gun industry created a “public nuisance” by flooding the city with “an excess of handguns.” And this increased operational costs for the Chicago Police Department, Fire Department, and public hospitals.

It is against the law in Chicago to sell or even to possess handguns within the city limits. But the gun industry had compensated, Daley said, “by shipping thousands of guns a year to suburban gun shops which operated just outside the city limits.” As journalists digested details of Daley’s personal crusade against the firearm industry, the mayor continued with an evangelical fervor: “Gun manufacturers and retailers know exactly what they’re doing. They knowingly market and distribute their deadly weapons to Chicago criminals, refusing to impose even the most basic controls. Therefore, we are suing 22 manufacturers and four distributors, seeking tougher controls and $433 million in damages.”

The mention of serious cash woke up reporters. For the first time, a price tag had been affixed to municipal gun damages. Daley smiled: “If money is the only language they understand, money is the language we will use to show them they have no business in Chicago.”

Rosenthal’s obliging young aides silently passed out a partial tally of costs engendered by gun violence during 1997: $75 million for police services; $75 million for Cook County services; hospital costs, $50 million; legal costs, $26 million; and $200 million scattered through civic agencies, ranging from the price of doctor’s scrub outfits to blood cleanup on the embattled streets.

Daley then dropped his bombshell: “We have called you to this building because here is where we are storing the 171 weapons undercover officers purchased from the suburban gun shops. How do criminals get weapons in Chicago? They buy them. And we’ll show you how.”

To expose gun-trafficking outside Chicago’s borders, seasoned members of the “Gang Task Force” invaded the thriving neighborhood gun shops disguised as bikers, gang members, and militia soldiers. Each team carried identification indicating that they lived in Chicago—where it is illegal to possess the weapons they purchased. More importantly, only one of the agents carried a Firearm Owners Identification Card—required by Illinois law. The agent that was plainly an illegal customer did all the talking, placed the cash on the counter, and walked out with the guns.

The detectives openly bragged about needing the guns to “settle a score,” to resell to drug gangs, or to use in other criminal enterprises. Despite these brazen indications of criminal intent, in each case the suburban dealers sold them the firearms, sometimes counseling them in how best to avoid the paperwork that might trigger an investigation. The intricate sting, known as Operation Gunsmoke, also turned up numerous cases in which Chicagoans had been killed by guns trafficked from these same dealerships. One instance resulted in the death of a police officer.

Initially, the detectives were identified as Officer 1, or Officer 6, guaranteeing their anonymity until they testified in court. And their adventures were detailed in a sketchy manner. Here is one report:

On August 10, 1998, two officers entered B and H Sports and “expressed great interest in buying two 9mm handguns.” Officer 6 (the officer without the proper identification) said he needed the weapons to deal with a gang member “who ratted me out.”

The clerk, suddenly quite interested in the purchase, asked: “What do you do for a living?”

“I hang out on the streets,” said Officer 6, tugging on his gangland jacket. “Write that I am in sales,” he added. “I lost my 9mm (a semiautomatic pistol) on Saturday night. And you better add some ammo. I’m going to need it.”

The clerk sidled over to Officer 6 and whispered: “If you wait four days to pick up the guns, the feds won’t be out to investigate you.”

The detective nodded his agreement.

Another report:

On August 14, Officer 2 and Officer 6 returned to B and H to collect the handguns. When the salesman laid the cheap semiautomatic handguns on the counter, Officer 6 complained that they didn’t match: “If they are different colors, I won’t look so impressive when I draw down on them.” He then asked to see a laser sight to improve the gun’s deadliness. The clerk obliged while the undercover cop inquired: “If I put the dot on someone’s stomach will the bullet hit him in the chest?”

“It would,” the salesman answered.

The anonymity of task force members evaporated as the press slowly discovered their identities. Two episodes of 60 Minutes turned several of them into media stars—notably George Klinger, Jeanne Brandmayr, and Bernard Kelly.

Kelly was perhaps the most loquacious. Describing himself as “a ruthless, hard-nosed gangbanger,” the undercover officer purchased numerous automatic pistols, semiautomatic guns, and a cache of weapons for himself and others at an Oak Lawn gun shop. “I once feigned revenge against a foe, and purchased an assault-type weapon. The clerk commended me on the gun, a Smith and Wesson pistol that is very popular with drug dealers and gang members.” The clerk motioned to the weapon: “This will take care of business.”

While posing as gang members or drug dealers, Kelly employed the undercover name of Pete Cooney, a character from the soap opera All My Children. “I acted as the ‘straw’ (stand-in) purchaser for other undercover officers, illegally buying guns on their behalf under the pretense that they did not have the required firearm owner’s I.D. I always paid cash from a thick wad of bills. And we made it obvious who the guns were destined for.” Meanwhile, in another suburb, Chicago Officer George Klinger posed as a militia member looking for the most lethal weapon he could buy, and he found it—a pistol that pumps out 30 rounds of ammunition employing the same clips used by the military to arm an M-16 rifle. The detective even found one dealer who recommended the “best bullets for human targets.”

Klinger described the bullets as “prefragmented.” “The salesman told me if I fired at somebody and struck them, that the bullet wouldn’t go through them and hit a little girl riding her bike.” He purchased the special bullets.

Detective Jeanne Brandmayr dressed in acid-washed jeans and a boyish leather jacket to pose as a biker chick scooping up guns for her “old man” and his cycling buddies. She was nervous about the assignment, nervous about being recognized and nervous that she was being videotaped through a side window. As a member of the Chicago Police Department’s Gang Task Force, it would not have been unusual for her to bump into the very people she had been tracking through the vast and dangerous Chicago housing projects.

And the tapes of her performance inside and outside the gun stores were considered essential for use in court and, later, in media campaigns. The blurry, grainy tapes showed her stagy movements inside an Oak Lawn armaments store as she prepared to purchase guns for her partner Bo, a beefy guy in brown leather who was driving a fancy new motorcycle.

Shortly after they were edited, the tapes had their premiere showing on 60 Minutes. Mike Wallace provided the narrative: “She’s there at the counter, buying guns for her partner, having told the clerk that he has a criminal record. Therefore he can’t get the state I.D. card needed to purchase a gun legally.”

Brandmayr described her feelings, “I could bring anybody off the streets and into these stores. It didn’t matter what kind of criminal they were. I suddenly understood how gangs got their guns—they bought them.”

Officer Bernard Kelly was discouraged following his playacting in the weapon emporiums: “I am far beyond asking why it happens; it’s just money. My question is: How much money do you want? I want to ask the gunmakers, ‘When is it going to stop?’ There is no need for these guns to be anywhere. They aren’t for target practice; they aren’t used for hunting. They are only used to kill people.”

The evidence from Operation Gunsmoke confirmed what Daley expected when he conceived the lawsuit in 1997, asking Rosenthal a simple question: “How are the gangs getting their guns?”

Daley had initiated the suit about the same time the U.S. Conference of Mayors formed a task force on inner-city violence. While other mayors, particularly New Orleans’ Marc Morial and Atlanta’s Bill Campbell, used liability statutes to chase gunmakers, the Chicago chief chose another path.

Daley was bedeviled by the carnage from 700 murders a year and tormented by his own helplessness when he received the draft of Kairys’ Philadelphia lawsuit. Since Philadelphia’s Mayor Ed Rendell had thrown the suit away, the Chicago mayor believed the formula matched beautifully with the city’s public nuisance ordinances. Philadelphia’s loss became the Windy City’s gain.

The Kairys pleading had a checkered history, but Daley didn’t care. He knew that Rendell had abandoned it when Pennsylvania’s radical gun lobby attacked him from all sides, even threatening to campaign against him if he ran for governor in 2002. “I never knew that the National Rifle Association would go that far to halt the litigation,” said Kairys. “The slurs against me and against Rendell seemed desperate and incredibly vicious.” But the NRA was victorious. The Philadelphia mayor did not go forward with the suit. Kairys, infuriated by the gun lobby’s power play, copied the paper he’d published in early 1998 on nuissance suits against gun manufacturers and mailed it off to fifty mayors—including those of Chicago, San Francisco, and Los Angeles. Kairys became the chief consultant for more than 20 American cities—all of which incorporated his “public nuisance theory” into their gun suits.

Chicago Deputy Corporation Counsel Rosenthal and his legal aides hit the computers before any other city and found a frightening profile of gun-retailing—gunrunners who doled out cash for trunkloads of lethal handguns headed directly for the streets of Chicago’s South Side. Although the city attorneys had cautioned Daley that they probably would never find records that “start with the factory assembly line and end with the victim’s aorta,” that is precisely what they did find. When they traced 10,000 crime guns between August 1, 1997 and July 31, 1998, the attorneys learned that only 98 guns had been reported stolen. The rest, at least the greatest portion of them, had been bought from the gun stores that ring Chicago.

The Rosenthal team started with guns the police had confiscated from the crimes of murders and robberies and agonizingly followed them back not just to the store but also to the wholesalers and manufacturers. Gun-purchasing permits and firearms serial numbers lighted their way.

They found, for instance, that on March 18, 1997, a buyer named James F. Smith, 30, bought a Smith & Wesson 9mm semiautomatic pistol from B & H Sports in the quiet, prosperous Chicago suburb of Oak Lawn. It was one of eight handguns Smith bought within eighteen months. The gun next turned up in a gangland-style shootout in a car wash on turf claimed by two warring gangs. The Smith & Wesson pistol fired the fatal bullet into the body of Marcellus Boyce. The owner of the pistol, Leroy “Lucky” Burton, was convicted of Boyce’s murder. Detectives determined that Smith was a member of Burton’s New Breed gang for which the buyer was an “armed bodyguard and weapons supplier.”

Earlier, on February 24, 1995, Thomas M. Sanders purchased a Bryco 9mm semiautomatic pistol (a “Saturday night special” or “junk gun”) from the B & H gun shop as part of a seven-pistol “stash” the runner assembled. A year later, two gang members, Steven Walters and Muhammad Gibson, used the firearm to accost a janitor. When arrested, Walters had the Smith & Wesson tucked in his pocket.

On August 19, 1998, Renard Johnson bought three pistols from the Illinois Gun Works in the Chicago suburb of Elmwood Park. All were sold into the criminal black market, including a Cobray “Full Metal Jacket” pistol, which fell into the hands of one of the South Side’s most dangerous gangs, the Black Disciples. During a foray into rival gang territory, Cobray bullets struck two men loitering on a street corner. None of the wounds were fatal. The Chicago police picked up the young shooter and confiscated the “Full Metal Jacket.”

Mayor Daley was “astounded” at these and hundreds of similar stories that spewed out of the computer. Two similar handguns and their sordid history would soon become rallying points in the Chicago mayor’s crusade. These weapons—from the two highest-profile murders in the nineties—followed the now-familiar trail: from factory to wholesaler; from wholesaler to retailer; from retailer to gunrunner; and from gunrunner to murderer.

Ezra Evans, an out-of-work bank teller, bought the first gun, a Smith & Wesson .357 Magnum revolver with a 4-inch barrel and a blue-steel finish from Chuck’s Gun Shop in July of 1998. It was one of thirteen guns Evans acquired in twelve months. The majority of them were turned over to a man Evans knew only as “Little G,” an enforcer for the Gangster Disciples gang, and four guns went to a G.D. gang member Evans knew only as Kojak, who was the gang’s narcotics traffic controller.

The .357 Magnum then disappeared into the gang culture—only to resurface the night of August 15 in a cop killing. On that night, a rookie policeman, Michael Ceriale, was conducting a stakeout of a Chicago Housing Authority building infested with heroin and cocaine trafficking. Along with his partner, Joe Ferenzi, 26-year-old Ceriale was trying to make a “score to impress” the police brass.

The partners left their car and crept through the darkness to a small ridge of raggedy trees on a knoll five hundred yards from the building’s back door. Neither policeman saw two of the gang’s lookouts huddled in the shadows of a stairwell. One of them, sixteen-year-old Michael Tolliver, thought he saw some movement in the foliage.

“On them Popsicles,” a gang member cried from inside.

At that same second, Ferenzi crouched further down in a movement that must have been seen by Tolliver, who began walking toward the cops.

“I think they’ve seen us,” Ceriale said. He could see the lookout moving out of a clump of trees with his .357 Magnum in his right hand.

As the gun discharged, there was a flash of white, then a muted pop.

Ceriale felt a sting as the bullet entered his abdomen just an inch below his protective vest. “He shot me. Call an ambulance,” he cried.

Later, Ferenzi would obsess on what gave them away. Did they move too fast? Was something glinting off of their civilian dress? Was the hideout inadequate? There would never be an adequate answer.

Five days later, with Tolliver in custody and Ceriale’s life bleeding away, detectives traced the murder weapon’s serial number to Chuck’s Gun Shop in Riverdale and from there to its buyer, Ezra Evans. The young man wept when he pleaded guilty. He bought the .357 Magnum to repay a drug debt he owed the Gangster Disciples.

The second gun, a Bryco 9mm, was used to kill nineteen-year-old Andrew Young in upscale Evanston, Illinois, a bedroom community just outside the Chicago city limits. Young, his twin brother Sam, and a friend had just cashed a check and were heading home when a gang member roared up next to their car.

The cyclist held his right hand in the air, dropping his two middle fingers. It was the sign of his gang, the Latin Disciples. Andrew tried to ignore him, glancing straight ahead at the traffic light. Gang member Mario Ramos, riding behind the cyclist, pulled the Bryco from the confines of his leather jacket, fired into Andrew’s chest, and then sped away. Murder was committed in the blink of an eye.

The friend pushed Andrew aside and raced to nearby Evanston Hospital, where the victim was wheeled into emergency surgery as blood seeped out of the wound. A young physician shook his head. The Bryco’s bullet had pierced Young’s heart.

The boy’s father, Stephen, ran through the doors of surgery just as the physician pounded on Andrew’s chest in a final act of desperation. The father remembered the wrenching scene: “I looked down at the hole in Andrew’s chest and thought, ‘Where did the gun come from? How did this lethal gun get into the hands of a seventeen-year-old gang member?’”

After Andrew’s funeral, Young asked himself those questions day and night until he decided to track the Bryco as far back as he could take it. The killer was easy to find; after all, there had been fifteen witnesses. Ironically, the shooter’s mother, Muriel Ramos, walked to her nearest precinct house and turned over the automatic weapon.

Chicago police, however, declined to search the gun’s history. That wasn’t good enough for Stephen Young. Using an old friend, he gained access to computerized data from the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms and plugged in the serial number.

The gun rolled off the Bryco Arms assembly line on July 14, 1995, and was part of a bulk shipment to an Indiana wholesaler. Six weeks later, it was in the display case of Breit & Johnson Sporting Goods in Riverdale.

Four weeks later, Dan Escobedo, a convicted felon and black marketeer, scooped up the gun along with thirty-nine others earmarked for the Chicago gang territory. Because Escobedo had served time for narcotics-trafficking and attempted murder, he couldn’t get the state I.D. needed to purchase firearms in Illinois.

Luckily, he had brought along Mario Di Vittorio, an old friend and fellow customer. Di Vittorio, a retailer who dealt out of his car, used his own I.D. to purchase the Bryco and thirty-nine other guns Escobedo would later peddle in the projects. This meant that Di Vittorio and not Escobedo was listed on ATF records as the gun’s owner.

If Escobedo had been forced to fill out the ATF forms as required by law, the salesman would have known instantly that he was selling forty guns to a felon. Breit & Johnson would have shown him to the door.

This infuriated Young: “It was a conspiracy between the store owner and Di Vittorio. You want to tell me this guy needs forty guns for self-protection?” Young asked. “And, since game hunters and target shooters shun automatic weapons, … the industry manufactured these guns directly for America’s criminal element. Nobody else wanted them. We all knew that these guns were coming to Chicago in large amounts. But we didn’t know, until now, that the gun companies were part of this conspiracy. Their production goes up and down as often as the crime rate.”

When he turned the data over to the Chicago Police Department, Young told reporters: “The Chicago Police have actually caught the manufacturers in the act. We proved what had only been supposition before.”

Andrew’s father added his statistics to the mountain of data being compiled by the handgun task force. Chicago’s chief corporate attorney, Lawrence Rosenthal, put the discovery in context. “Some companies actually play up features that appeal to gang members and criminals. They make weapons more dangerous than they have to be and then they brag about it.”

In 1999, Young filed his own high-profile lawsuit holding Bryco Arms liable for the death of his son. It is the first of its kind, a pleading that seeks to make gun companies pay for the violent deaths of “our loved ones.” The suit also targets the cozy relationship between the gun industry and criminals. The ad executive traced the Bryco 9mm from the factory to the hands of the killer. It promised to be a landmark suit.

Josh Horowitz, director of the Firearms Litigation Clearing House in Washington, D.C., says “the goal of gun manufacturers is to ‘sell as many guns as possible.’ And we’re all paying for the system because it is really the responsibility of unwilling manufacturers to monitor gun buyers and sellers. When that system breaks down, you get a faucet that’s just left open, spewing thousands of guns a day to shady dealers and marketers.”

Between 1997, and 2000, the City of Chicago confiscated more than 48,000 handguns, most of them semiautomatics. As Chicago police melt them down, clandestine retailers cruising the streets quickly replace them.

In 1999, television producer Bill Kurtis took his cameras into the emergency room of Chicago’s Cook County Hospital and onto the streets of Chicago and came away with this observation: “Chicago is not alone. Nationally, gun battles are a daily drama, played out on the streets of America—an epidemic of handgun violence. Every twenty seconds a new handgun is manufactured in the United States. And every two minutes, another person is shot. In the year 2000, twenty-four thousand men, women and children were murdered by handguns—again, the majority of them semiautomatics.”

One gun in particular, “the Saturday night special,” accounts for 58 percent of those murders. Mayor Daley described them as “killing machines. At $30 each they can make their kill and just be thrown down. The companies that make these cheap guns have blood on their hands.”

As bold as Daley was in setting up his crusade, he was fearful of the National Rifle Association’s wrath. Giving instructions to Rosenthal, he concluded, “Let’s keep from angering the NRA.”

The National Rifle Association remained silent—despite the pair of lawsuits and thirty more that were threatened. The sleeping giant would wake soon enough.


CHAPTER THREE
 [image: Image]
THE SLEEPING GIANT

And Its Ad Agency

Once the media broadcast the news of the New Orleans gun suit around the world, the Castano attorney sat back and waited for the expected explosive reaction from the National Rifle Association.

For once, word from inside the NRA headquarters in suburban Virginia was sedate and conservative. Instead of calling a press conference or openly attacking the plaintiff’s lawyers, the often-reactionary organization proceeded with considerable stealth.

According to insiders, Wayne LaPierre, the NRA’s executive vice president, did stage a brief temper tantrum the evening of the press conference. “Wayne lost it,” said former lobbyist Robert Ricker, who had transferred to the American Shooting Sports Council, a trade organization for the gun industry. “He saw this as a direct threat to the fortunes of the entire industry.” However, nobody called the media.

Instead, the NRA’s chief lobbyist, James Baker, gathered his assistants around him and launched a quiet but nevertheless urgent lobbying effort in the Louisiana State Legislature to outlaw the suit.

“They started lobbying the next afternoon,” recalled Wendell Gauthier, who was informed that a series of local lobbyists had nailed down sponsors for an NRA hand-tailored bill within forty-eight hours. “They turned the legislature against us in less than a week,” Gauthier continued. “But I don’t think it took much to convince the rural-oriented body.”

The James Baker forces also began canvassing states in order to foresee where else the Castano Group would strike. Miami, Atlanta, Cincinnati, Cleveland, and Chicago were quickly identified, and the NRA prepared to descend upon four more state legislatures.

Meanwhile, the fuming LaPierre and NRA President Charlton Heston were held in check as calmer heads prevailed, including Baker and the top brass of Ackerman McQueen, the multimillion-dollar public relations agency that had recently consolidated its power within the organization during a 1997 to 1998 power struggle. The key voice for a reasoned response to the lawsuits may have been that of Angus McQueen, president of Ack-Mac.

“Few people know the extent of Ackerman McQueen’s power,” said former National Rifle Association lobbyist Richard Feldman. “There are people who will tell you that Ack-Mac makes the really crucial decisions or at least the decisions where a public response is necessary.”
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